IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 29 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Cities Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 86,284

JUAN SOCA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 Northwest 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, JUAN SOCA, was the defendant and probationer in the trial court and appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, the State, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court. The decision, motion for certification, and order denying certification, along with other pertinent decisions, are included in the Appendix, which will be designated herein as "App. ___."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was convicted of cocaine trafficking on the basis of evidence obtained from a non-exigent, warrantless search of his residence. Soca v. State, 656 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (App. at 2.)

The defendant, on probation, resided in a trailer in Monroe County with his parents. (<u>Id.</u>) Based upon information which caused him to believe that the defendant was in possession of a large quantity of cocaine, rather than obtaining a search warrant a state attorney's investigator contacted the defendant's probation officer; there followed a non-exigent, warrantless search by probation officers of the defendant's residence trailer, resulting in the discovery of cocaine hidden under the floor of a hallway closet. (<u>Id.</u>)

The evidence obtained from the warrantless search was admitted against the defendant not merely in the probation revocation proceeding, but, over denied motion to suppress, in the new substantive case, resulting in conviction. (<u>Id.</u>)

Upon the defendant's timely appeal, a panel of the Third District Court of Appeal, rejecting the defendant's contention that (as will be set forth in the argument portion of this brief) the decisions of this Court permit the result of warrantless searches to be used only in evidence in probation revocation proceedings but not in the new substantive case, affirmed on the basis that under an obscure eight-year-old United States Supreme Court decision, Griffin v. Wisconsin, 483 U.S. 868, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987) and Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution, the case of Grubbs v. State, 373 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1979) was in pertinent part effectively nullified. 656 So. 2d at 537-541. (App. at 2-6.)

The defendant timely moved that the district court certify as one of great public importance the following question or one of similar import:

Does the decision in <u>Griffin v. Wisconsin</u>, 483 U.S. 868, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987), in conjunction with Article I, § 12 of the Florida Constitution as amended effective January 4, 1983, signify that the holding in pertinent part of <u>Grubbs v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1979) and its progeny, that evidence obtained from warrantless (non-exigent) searches of probationers is inadmissible in substantive criminal proceedings, is a nullity or of no longer continuing vitality in Florida?

[App. at 7.]

The motion for certification was summarily denied on July 19, 1995 (App. at 9), and the defendant thereupon filed timely notice to invoke the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court's decision, holding that under an eight-year-old United States Supreme Court decision and Article I, Section 12, of the Florida Constitution, the pertinent portion of the decision in <u>Grubbs v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1979), which held that the results of warrantless searches of probationers are not admissible in substantive criminal proceedings, is no longer controlling, conflicts with <u>Grubbs</u>; with <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973), in which this court pronounced the proper roles of district courts of appeal; and with the decision in <u>Braxton v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), which held that the results of a warrantless search of a community controllee's residence were inadmissible in the substantive case.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE LOWER COURT, ALLOWING THE RESULTS OF NONEXIGENT WARRANTLESS SEARCHES TO BE ADMITTED AGAINST PROBATIONERS IN NEW SUBSTANTIVE CASES, CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS COURT IN GRUBBS v. STATE, 373 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1979) AND HOFFMAN v. JONES, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973), AND WITH THE DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN BRAXTON v. STATE, 524 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988).

The panel of the lower court has boldly undertaken to displace this Court's own role in ascertaining the vitality of this Court's own precedents, and, in so doing, has declined to certify such a notable result. Not only, as will be momentarily discussed, does the relatively obscure United States Supreme Court decision not accomplish the result so posited to it by the lower court, but, even if it were to be construed to do so, that is a matter to be pronounced by this Court, not by the lower court. Where, as in the instant case, it is at minimum far from evident that the asserted United States Supreme Court decision has the ascribed effect, the controlling precedential principle is that stated by this Court in Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973):

[T]he District Courts of Appeal are [not] powerless to seek change; they are free to certify questions of great public importance to this Court for consideration, and even to state their reasons for advocating change. They are, however, bound to follow the case law set forth by this Court.

<u>ld.</u> at 434.

This Court's decisions constitute the settled law in Florida as to the rights of a probationer in relation to searches and seizures. Evidence obtained from an illegal search or seizure is inadmissible either in a probation revocation proceeding, <u>State v. Dodd</u>, 419 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 1982), or in a substantive criminal case. <u>Grubbs v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 905, 909-10 (Fla. 1979); <u>Croteau v. State</u>, 334 So. 2d 577, 580

(Fla. 1976).¹ A nonexigent warrantless search of a probationer is lawful only to the extent the evidence is admitted in probation revocation proceedings alone, and is not lawful with respect to use of evidence in a new substantive case. <u>Grubbs v. State</u>, id. at 907, 909.

The amendment of Article I, § 12 of the Florida Constitution, effective January 4, 1993,² has no impact on the foregoing structure of law, i.e., has no impact on a search, seizure or exclusionary rule issue, unless the United States Supreme Court has squarely ruled on the issue. State v. Cross, 487 So. 2d 1056, 1057-58 (Fla. 1986) (deciding that notwithstanding amendment of Article I, § 12, the pre-existent Dodd holding is of continuing vitality: "[N]o United States Supreme Court decision specifically holds the exclusionary rule inapplicable to probation revocation proceedings. . . . The United States Supreme Court has not ruled on the issue presently before us. Therefore, it is not necessary to interpret the amendment to article I, section 12."), cert. dismissed, 479 U.S. 805, 107 S. Ct. 248, 93 L. Ed. 2d 172 (1986).

The lower court's conclusion that <u>Griffin v. Wisconsin</u>, 483 U.S. 868, 107 S. Ct. 3164, 97 L. Ed. 2d 709 (1987) ruled upon any issue which, for purposes of Florida law, alters the foregoing structure, is erroneous. Pursuant to a statute which placed probationers in the custody of a particular state agency and made them

The statement in <u>Croteau</u> to the effect that the exclusionary rule does not apply in probation revocation proceedings, <u>id.</u> at 580, was recognized as dictum and as invalid by this Court in <u>State v. Dodd</u>, <u>id.</u> at 335 & n.2.

That amendment provided in pertinent part that the "right [provided in the article] shall be construed in conformity with the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution, as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court. Articles or information obtained in violation of this right shall not be admissible in evidence if such articles or information would be inadmissible under decisions of the United States Supreme Court construing the 4th Amendment to the United States Constitution."

"subject . . . to . . . conditions set by the court and rules and regulations established by the department[,]" a regulation which permitted a warrantless search of a probationer's home by a probation officer upon "reasonable grounds" was upheld as constitutional. <u>Griffin</u>, 107 S. Ct. at 3166-67, 3171.³ In so holding, the United States Supreme Court was actually passing upon a higher standard of justification than required by this Court of searches by probation officers with respect to probation revocation proceedings; this Court has recognized such searches as an implicit condition of any probation, but "valid to the extent that the evidence discovered is used only in probation violation proceedings[.]" <u>Grubbs v. State, id.</u> at 907.

Therefore, as a definitional matter, the search upheld as legal by the state court in <u>Griffin v. Wisconsin</u>, and which was declared by the United States Supreme Court under the Wisconsin regulatory scheme to satisfy constitutional standards, is not valid in Florida with respect to a substantive offense. <u>Grubbs</u>, <u>id.</u> at 907, 910.

The lower court's straining to reach the result it desired, and thereby to supplant this Court's proper role, is evident, inter alia, from its "broader analysis of all legal authority[.]" 656 So. 2d at 539-41. (App. at 4-6.) This Court has settled

The Supreme Court expressly refrained from reaching the question of whether "any search of a probationer's home by a probation officer satisfies the Fourth Amendment as long as the information . . . satisfies a federal 'reasonable grounds' standard[,]" and decided only that the "regulation . . . itself satisfies the Fourth Amendment's reasonableness requirement[.]" 107 S. Ct. at 3167. It was for the Wisconsin Supreme Court to determine whether the state law requirements had been met. <u>Id.</u> at 3171 n.8. The Supreme Court expressly took the "regulation as it has been interpreted by . . . state courts. . . . [T]he Wisconsin Supreme Court [is] the ultimate authority on issues of Wisconsin law." <u>Id.</u> at 3169.

It is, of course, equally true that this Court is the ultimate authority on issues of Florida law, and it has defined a warrantless search by a probation officer as lawful only with respect to a probation revocation hearing. Grubbs v. State, id. at 907. This is a holding that lower courts are not free to alter or disregard. Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431, 440 (Fla. 1973).

that an express search condition in an order of probation is irrelevant, i.e., is not needed, to justify a warrantless search of a probationer. <u>Grubbs</u>, <u>id.</u> at 907. The lower court, however, irrelevantly, and incorrectly, reasoned that the right of a probation officer to effect an arrest of an probationer, in conjunction with the right to visit him at his home, and the particular condition in this case to submit to a chemical test, confers the right to search a residence and, tautologically, because such search is "lawful," it is admissible in a substantive criminal case. 656 So. 2d at 539-41. (App. at 4-6.) However, as seen, the right of a probation officer to conduct a warrantless related search is not related to or dependent upon the provisions cited by the lower court, inasmuch as this Court has already declared such a search legitimate, but, it again must be stated, only to the extent the proceeds are utilized in the probation revocation proceeding alone. <u>Grubbs</u>, <u>id.</u> at 907.

Moreover, as noted, the <u>Griffin</u> court took the "regulation as it has been interpreted . . . by state courts. . . . [T]he Wisconsin Supreme Court [is] the ultimate authority on issues of Wisconsin law." <u>Id.</u> at 3169. By a process of circular reasoning, the lower court took the decision in which this express recognition appears, and utilized it to displace this Court's "ultimate authority on issues of [Florida] law."

If <u>Griffin</u> had the effect imparted to it by the lower court, then <u>Braxton v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), decided subsequent to <u>Griffin</u>, would have to have been incorrect. <u>Braxton</u> held that a warrantless search, in which a community control officer participated, of a community controlee's residence could result in evidence utilizable in a revocation hearing, but not, under <u>Grubbs</u>, to prove a new criminal offense. <u>Id.</u> at 1141.

To the extent the lower court's opinion attempts to unsuccessfully distinguish

Braxton (656 So. 2d at 541 n.2),⁴ that is, of course, irrelevant for purposes of a prima facie conflict; a conflict is presented both by the application of a materially different rule of law, and, in any event, by a directly opposed result on materially identical facts. Nielsen v. Sarasota, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960).

The lower court stated that <u>Braxton</u> "apparently involved a search conducted by officers other than the defendant's community control officer, and the opinion did not engage in a <u>Griffin</u> analysis." <u>Id.</u> However, <u>Braxton</u> itself stated that the search "was conducted by officers including defendant's community control officer." 524 So. 2d at 1141. If it were presumed there were regular law enforcement officers also involved in <u>Braxton</u> (although the <u>Braxton</u> opinion does not so specify), the instant search, conducted by probation officers, was instigated by regular law enforcement, the state attorney's office. 656 So. 2d at 537. There is no relevant factual distinction between the two cases.

Moreover, the <u>Braxton</u> court, as any other court, is presumed to know (and apply) the relevant law. Absence of discussion of <u>Griffin</u> signified an implicit conclusion by the <u>Braxton</u> court of its irrelevance, and the <u>Braxton</u> result (which is contrary to that reached below) expressly rests upon an analysis necessarily opposed to that employed by the lower court.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the decision below is in express and direct conflict with the controlling decisions of this Court, as well as with the decision of the Second District in Braxton. Accordingly, review should be granted, and the lower court's decision quashed.