IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,284

JUAN SOCA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED

SID I WMITE

SEP 11 1995 DEENK SURREME COURT

Charl Deputy Clark

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW CONFLICT JURISDICTION

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0239437
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441
(Fax) 305-377-5655

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Juan Soca, was the Appellant below. The Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellee below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent accepts the Petitioner's statement of the case and facts as a substantially accurate account of the proceeding below.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE INSTANT DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN GRUBBS V. STATE, 373 So. 2d 905 (FLA. 1979) AND HOFFMAN V. JONES, 280 So. 2d 431 (FLA. 1973) AND WITH THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IN BRAXTON V. STATE, 524 So. 2d 1141 (FLA. 2ND DCA 1988).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District held that where a non probable cause probation search is lawful under the Fourth Amendment the evidence seized therefrom is admissible in both the probation violation hearing and the trial on the substantive charge. This holding is not in conflict with any prior decision of this Court since the prior decision relied upon by Petitioner was effectively overruled by the amendment to Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution. The decision was overruled because at the time of the amendment the United States Supreme Court had already held that evidence lawfully secured through a less than probable cause administrative search was admissible at the substantive trial.

ARGUMENT

THE INSTANT DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS IN GRUBBS V. STATE, 373 So. 2d 905 (FLA. 1979) AND HOFFMAN V. JONES, 280 So. 2d 431 (FLA. 1977) AND WITH THE SECOND DISTRICT'S DECISION IN BRAXTON V. STATE, 524 So. 2d 1141 (FLA. 2ND DCA 1988).

In the instant case, the evidence was secured against the Petitioner through a valid probation search, which is a search supported by a reasonable ground to believe that the probationer is violating his probation, but is not supported by a probable cause based warrant. The evidence secured by the probation search, which consisted of cocaine, was then used against the Petitioner in his trial on the substantive cocaine charges.

In the Third District, Petitioner conceded the lawfulness of the probation search, but contended that the cocaine was inadmissible at his trial on the substantive charge because the cocaine was not seized pursuant to a probable cause warrant or an exception thereto. The Third District disagreed finding that under <u>Griffin v. Wisconsin</u>, 485 U.S. 868 (1987), Florida's probation system was one which allowed searches based on a reasonable ground to believe that the probationer was violating his probation. Therefore, the Third District held that since the cocaine was lawfully seized under the Fourth Amendment as a probation search it was admissible against the Petitioner at his substantive trial.

The Petitioner contends that this holding is erroneous and is in conflict with this Court's opinion in Grubbs v. State, 373 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 1979) which held that evidence lawfully seized pursuant to a probation search is only admissible in the probation violation hearing and is inadmissible at the trial on the substantive charge. He contends that the Third District was bound by Grubbs and its holding otherwise violates this Court's holding concerning following precedent of Hoffman v. Jones, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1977). He further contends that the subsequent amendment to Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution which provided that said section is to be construed in conformity with the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution as interpreted by the United States Supreme Court does not bar such a result because the United States Supreme Court has not yet ruled on the matter. Therefore he contends, this Court is free to construe this issue in any manner it sees fit regardless of what the United States Supreme Court may choose to do in the future.

The fallacy with Petitioner's position is that the United States Supreme Court has already held that once evidence is lawfully secured pursuant to the Fourth Amendment, the evidence can be used against the individual in any proceeding regardless of the type of proceeding. <u>Gouled v. United States</u>, 255 U.S. 298, 312 (1921). This is so because the main purpose of excluding evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment is

to substantially deter future unlawful police conduct and where evidence seized is not in violation of the Fourth Amendment there is no deterrent effect when such evidence is excluded. <u>United</u> States v. Janis, 428 U.S. 433 (1976).

In Abel v. United States, 362 U.S. 217 (1960) the United States Supreme Court was faced with the same contention in a In Abel, the defendant was different setting as posited herein. arrested pursuant to an INS deportation warrant. The warrant was on administrative one issued by the New York Director of INS on the grounds that a prima facie case of deportability was During the search incident to the administrative established. warrant, evidence of defendant's participation in espionage was The Supreme Court was presented with the uncovered and seized. question of whether the evidence of espionage which was secured pursuant to a concededly valid administrative warrant which than probable cause for its issuance, required less admissible against the defendant at his trial for espionage. Supreme Court held that such evidence was admissible since the evidence of espionage was seized as a consequence of wholly lawful conduct. This being so, the Supreme Court saw no rational basis for excluding the relevant espionage items from defendant's The Supreme Court found that since no illegal search or seizure occurred, no wrong doing police conduct would be condemned and the court would not be lending its aid to lawless government action since none occurred. The Supreme Court further

held that if there is a showing that the less than probable cause search was undertaken in bad faith to avoid the probable cause requirement, then, and only then, would the evidence be inadmissible in the criminal trial.

The State submits that Abel controls herein since in both evidence was lawfully secured pursuant to searches authorized on a less than probable cause requirement. In each case there was no police misconduct and therefore no reason to exclude the evidence in the substantive trials. As such, the Third District's decision in the instant case does not conflict with Grubbs since Grubbs was overruled by the Amendment to Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution and the United States Supreme Court decision in Abel. Further, since Grubbs was no longer valid law after the Amendment to Article I, Section 12 the Third District's decision does not conflict with Hoffman. Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction herein.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and authorities, the decision below is not in express and direct conflict with any decisions of this Court or of the District Courts of Appeal and therefore this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction herein.